FILED

Jul 18, 2016

Court of Appeals

Division III

93430.4 SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO. State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 33109-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

FILED

JUL 29 2016

MARIA HERNANDEZ MARTINEZ,

Respondent.

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

ON APPEAL FOR THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

The Honorable John D. Knodell

PETITION FOR REVIEW

GARTH DANO
PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

Kevin J. McCrae – WSBA #43087 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Petitioner

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
	1. May a trial court dismiss charges mid trial without a court rule allowing it to do so? If so must it entertain a motion to dismiss, or is such a decision discretionary with the trial court such that the standards for exercise of discretion apply/?
	2. Do the Rules of Appellate Procedure allow an appellate court to review an issue that is common in the Superior Courts, procedural in nature and will otherwise completely and permanently evade review? If not, are the Rules constitutional as applied
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
	1. Substantive Facts1
	2. Procedural History5
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED8
	1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court8
	2. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals9

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

	<u>Page</u>
	3. A significant question of law under the
	Constitution of the State of Washington or of
	the United States is involved11
	a. This case involves a significant question
	of the constitutional separation of powers
	between the Appellate Courts and the
	Superior Courts11
	b. The Court of Appeals' invocation of
	RAP 2.2 to evade review of this question
	also involves a significant question of law
	regarding whether certain questions are
	essentially unreviewable by the Appellate
	Courts
	4. The petition involves an issue of substantial
	public interest that should be determined
	by the Supreme Court15
F.	CONCLUSION17

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
STATE CASES
State v. Clark, 78 Wn. App. 471, 898 P.2d 854 (1995)7
State v. DeLeon, 185 Wn. App. 171, 341 P.3d 315 (2014)15
State v. Hanson, 14 Wn. App. 625, 544 P.2d 119 (1975)6
State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 110 P.3d 192 (2005)9
State v. Knapstad, 107 W.2d 346, 729 P.2d 48 (1986)9
State v. Matuszewski, 30 Wn. App. 714, 637 P.2d 994 (1981)15
State v. McPhee, 156 Wn. App. 44, 230 P.3d 284 (2010)15
State v. Olson, 92 Wn.2d 134, 594 P.2 1337 (1979)5, 15
State v. Pearson, 180 Wn. App. 576, 321 P.3d 1285 (2014)11
State v. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d 459, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007)9
State v. Portee, 25 Wn.2d 246, 170 P.2d 326 1946)15
State v. Smith, 97 Wn.2d 856, 651 P.2d 207 (1982)5
State v. Tasker, 193 Wn. App. 575, P.3d (2016)10
State ex rel. Schloss v. Superior Court of Jefferson County, 3 Wash. 696, 29 P. 202 (1892)12

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (continued)

<u>Page</u>
FEDERAL CASES
Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004)
Evans v. Michigan, 133 S. Ct. 1069, 185 L. Ed. 2d 124 (2013)16
STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 9A.72.0856, 7
RCW 10.43.05011, 15
Court and Evidence Rules
ER 801 (d)(i)7
RAP 1.2(a)13, 14
RAP 1.2(c)14
RAP 2.2
RAP 13.4(b)8
Constitutional Provisions
Wash Cons't Art IV11, 12

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State designates that part of the Court of Appeals decision relating to the granting of the defendant's motion to dismiss at the close of the State's evidence, dated June 21, 2016. A copy of that decision is in the Appendix at pages A 1 through A 17.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. May a trial court dismiss charges mid trial without a court rule allowing it to do so? If so must it entertain a motion to dismiss, or is such a decision discretionary with the trial court such that the standards for exercise of discretion apply?
- 2. Do the Rules of Appellate Procedure allow an appellate court to review an issue that is common in the Superior Courts, procedural in nature and will otherwise completely and permanently evade review? If not, are the Rules constitutional as applied?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Substantive Facts

At about 9:15 in the morning of August 29, 2012 Grant County
Deputy Fire Marshal Bruce Gribble arrived at the mobile home of Maria
Hernandez Martinez, which had just burned. 2RP 289-90. The fire was
out and firefighters were awaiting his arrival. 2RP 290. Fire Marshal
Gribble inspected the house and took photographs. He did not note any
evidence of money having been left on the couches. 2RP 299-300. Soot
was deposited on all surfaces. 2RP 302. He did not observe any jewelry
in the house. 3RP 421. Fire Marshal Gribble checked his records and
noted a fire at the same location in May, 2009, after which Ms. Hernandez
Martinez had received a new mobile home. 2RP 308.

In early September, 2012, Farmers Insurance adjuster Johnathan Hull assisted Ms. Hernandez Martinez in filling out insurance claim forms. RP 251. The effective date on the policy was August 9, 2012. 2RP 252. Ms. Hernandez Martinez claimed that two television sets and some cash had been lost to the fire, among other things. 2RP 254-55.

Insurance investigator Craig Harris interviewed Ms. Hernandez Martinez. She claimed that she was making \$660 a month. 2RP 270. She had three children and a working cell phone. 2RP 277. She had a mortgage payment of \$500 a month. She said she left a leather purse with cash on the couch. 2RP 279. Ms. Hernandez Martinez told Mr. Harris she

did not have any previous insurance claims. 2RP 280. According to the Farmers database, Ms. Hernandez Martinez had a prior claim in 2009.

On September 3, 2012 insurance investigator Barry Kerth went to the fire scene at the behest of Foremost Insurance. 1RP 153. He noticed that the fire burned down the table in the charring, making an unusual pattern. 1RP 164. This table was on the outside of the trailer holding an air conditioner that was sitting in a window. There was an irregular pattern consistent with gasoline. RP 170. He noted the fire did not start in the kitchen. RP 165. Mr. Kerth testified that the fire's areas of origin were behind a couch and in the vicinity of the air conditioner. 1RP 171, 185. After digging through the area behind the couch, Mr. Kerth smelled an accelerant. 1RP 174–75. He requested an accelerant detection dog. 1RP 175.

On Mr. Kerth's second trip, a few days later, he was told to look for evidence of \$3800 in cash. There was no evidence of the cash on the couch in the fire. There would have been remains had the money been on the couch during the fire. 1RP 167, 194. On the same trip Mr. Kerth noted two undamaged TVs that were not in the house on his first visit.

1RP 172-73. Most of the items in the house had smoke damage on them.

1RP 190.

Eileen Porter brought her accelerant detection dog to the scene on September 4. 2RP 208. Her dog alerted on the wooden table outside, some debris and the floor just inside that window. 2RP 210. She took a sample and sent it off to be analyzed. 2RP 211. She noted a gasoline can near a camp trailer parked on the property and took a picture of it. 2RP 213-32. Dale Mann, who works for private testing company MDE, tested the sample taken by Ms. Porter and found it contained gasoline that had been placed there shortly before it burned. 2RP 240-49.

On September 25, 2012 Fire Marshal Gribble, along with Grant County Sheriff's Deputy John Melvin, conducted a voluntary interview with Ms. Hernandez Martinez at a Grant County Sheriff's Office station.

2RP 310. Ms. Hernandez Martinez signed a statement under the penalty of perjury written based on information given during the interview. 2RP 319. In the statement she described the televisions and cash that were supposedly in the trailer at the time of the fire. 2RP 320-21. The statement also had penalty of perjury language in it that Deputy Melvin went over with Ms. Hernandez Martinez. 2RP 353. In this interview she described the money as being in a plastic bag, for which there would have been residue according to Marshal Gribble. 2RP 322. After the interview Ms. Hernandez Martinez gave Marshal Gribble and Deputy Melvin permission to go back to her trailer and look around. Marshal Gribble also looked for

evidence of the money but failed to find it. 2RP 337-38. They did find Ms. Hernandez Martinez's jewelry, usually kept in the house, in the unburned camp trailer located on the property, showing no signs of soot, smoke or heat damage on the containers. 3RP 415, 424.

2. Procedural History

The State initially charged one count of perjury in the second degree in July 2013. CP 1. On May 13, 2014 the State amended the information to add counts of arson in the first degree and false insurance claim. CP 15-16. On November 13, 2014 the State filed a Second Amended Information, clarifying under which prongs of first-degree arson it was proceeding.

The Court took a several day break in the middle of trial after most, but not all, of the State's testimony. 2RP 364. Just prior to the break the court questioned the State about the perjury charge and the evidence to support it, citing *State v. Olson*, 92 Wn.2d 134, 594 P.2d 1337 (1979), and also questioned what law required or authorized the oath in a *Smith* affidavit. 2RP 368-73. The court also questioned the strength of State's case as to Ms. Hernandez Martinez's involvement in the arson. 2RP 373. The State filed a written brief in response. CP 57-72. In it, the State argued: (1) that the court should delay any motion to dismiss at close

¹ State v. Smith, 97 Wn.2d 856, 651 P.2d 207 (1982).

of the State's evidence until after the jury returned its verdict; (2) under State v. Hanson, 14 Wn. App. 625, 544 P.2d 119 (1975), and RCW 9A.72.085 there was enough evidence to provide the oath was authorized by law and provide the direct contradiction required for a perjury charge; and (3) there was sufficient circumstantial evidence to submit the arson charge to the jury.

After the State rested, Ms. Hernandez Martinez moved to dismiss the arson and perjury counts as a matter of law. 3RP 391-92. She conceded there was sufficient evidence for the arson, but argued the evidence was insufficient to demonstrate her involvement. On the perjury charge, she argued there was insufficient evidence to show she understood that she was signing a document under penalty of perjury. *Id.* The State opposed hearing the motion while jeopardy was attached. The court responded:

THE COURT: We're talking about a procedure that is—that has been used over and over again and has been upheld by the Court of Appeals.

MR. McCRAE (the prosecutor): No, it hasn't.

THE COURT: I think so.

MR. McCRAE: What case has it been upheld in?

THE COURT: Well, I can't cite to you chapter and verse today, Mr. McCrae, but we do this all the time. We've been doing it for

years. You're asking me to depart from established custom on the basis of no authority whatsoever.

3RP 398-99. In ruling on the motion to dismiss the court expressed its opinion that the arson case was "complete speculation," but that he was bound by *State v. Clark*, 78 Wn. App. 471, 898 P.2d 854 (1995), to allow the case to go to the jury. 3RP 440.

On the perjury charge, the defense argued that the statement in the *Smith* affidavit was not made to mislead the investigators and the penalty of perjury language was not conveyed to Ms. Hernández Martinez. 3RP 442. The trial court then asked counsel whether the oath was authorized or required by law. The State argued that it was authorized by law pursuant to RCW 9A.72.085 and ER 801(d)(i). When asked about the court's proposition defense counsel declined to adopt it, instead arguing his original theory that the notice given was insufficient. 3RP 452-55. The court dismissed the perjury charge. 3RP 456. In doing so the court rejected the defendant's argument. 3RP 463-64. Instead, it dismissed on the grounds that the oath was not required or authorized by law. *Id.* The court rejected a lesser included charge of false swearing on the same grounds but did allow a lesser included charge of making a false or misleading statement to a public servant. 3RP 459, *Id.* The jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts submitted to it. 3RP 526-32.

The State cross appealed the procedure used to dismiss the perjury count. In its argument the State acknowledged it could not appeal the substantive dismissal under the Double Jeopardy Clause and RAP 2.2, so the procedural issue was moot. However the State argued that the issue met the requirements for review of a moot issue. The State's brief and reply brief to the Court of Appeals are attached as Appendices B and C for the convenience of the reader. The Court of Appeals declined to review the issue, citing only RAP 2.2.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The State appeals a procedural ruling that raises serious questions about separation of powers, the jurisdiction of the Appellate Courts, interpretation of the Rules of Criminal and Appellate Procedure and the fundamental fairness of trials and appeals. This issue clearly meets three out of the four requirements under RAP 13.4(b) governing the acceptance of review. While it does not meet the literal language of RAP 13.4(b)(2), it does meet the spirit and intent of that rule, in that it involves a conflict between Superior Courts on the procedures to apply to a midtrial motion to dismiss that the Court of Appeals refuses to address.

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with State v. Knapstad. 107 Wn.2d 346, 353, 729 P.2d 48 (1986). Knapstad dealt with a somewhat similar situation, a pretrial motion to dismiss when there was no criminal rule to support that motion. The Supreme Court ruled that trial courts have inherent authority to create procedures to deal with unusual situations not covered by the criminal rules. However, the Supreme Court also ruled that "This court will later determine whether these actions are a proper exercise of the trial court's authority." Id. at 353. This has not been a blank check to the trial courts. In State v. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d 459, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007), and State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 110 P.3d 192 (2005), the Washington Supreme Court expressly rejected the trial court's authority to create a procedure to deal with aggravating circumstances after Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004). Because the Court of Appeals refused to review this issue, despite the fact that Knapstad held that appellate courts would review trial court procedures that go beyond the criminal rules, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Knapstad and the Supreme Court should accept review.

2. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Because the Court of Appeals refused to review this issue on the merits there is no conflict in the Court of Appeals. Therefore this part of the rule does not literally apply. However, the intent of this part of the rule is that the Supreme Court resolves conflicts in the lower courts, including the Superior Courts. Usually that is done through the intermediate step of the Court of Appeals. However, in this case there is a clear conflict in the Superior Courts that the Court of Appeals is unwilling or unable to resolve. The Court should apply the intent of this rule and grant review.

The trial court in this case acted as if a midtrial motion to dismiss existed as a matter of right, and even came up with the grounds for dismissal sua sponte. It did not even consider delaying the motion until after the jury had returned. However, in other cases trial courts have decided to delay midtrial motions to dismiss until after the jury came back, providing the appellate courts the opportunity to review the decision and provide guidance. In *State v. Tasker*, 193 Wn. App. 575, 579-80, __ P.3d __ (2016), the trial court recognized the issue of whether the State had provided sufficient evidence to prove a firearm enhancement was 'razor thin' and delayed a midtrial motion to dismiss until after the jury had returned a verdict. After the jury returned a verdict the trial court considered the issue and decided it for the State. The Court of Appeals

then reviewed the issue and affirmed. In *State v. Pearson*, 180 Wn. App. 576, 321 P.3d 1285 (2014), the trial court expressed skepticism about the State's evidence prior to presenting an instruction on a school bus stop enhancement. However, the court submitted the enhancement to the jury, which found the enhancement. The court then dismissed the enhancement after the verdict. The State appealed, and the Court of Appeals, exercising its constitutional duties, affirmed the trial court in a published opinion.

While no conflict exists in the Court of Appeals, a clear conflict exists in the trial courts. The appellate courts exist to ensure uniform laws and standards are provided across the State. As of now there is no standard for midtrial motions to dismiss. The Supreme Courts should grant review to reconcile this conflict between the Superior Courts.

- 3. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved.
 - a. This case involves a significant question of the constitutional separation of powers between the Appellate Courts and the Superior Courts.

Since territorial days, by statute, a judicial acquittal based on variance between the information and the proof has not been a bar to retrial. RCW 10.43.050. (First codified Code of 1881 §769). Article IV of the State constitution sets up appellate courts. Art IV §4 gives the Supreme Court appellate jurisdiction in all actions and proceedings (with

exceptions not relevant here). Appellate jurisdiction exists to clarify and harmonize the law across the State. A midtrial motion to dismiss robs the Supreme Court of its appellate jurisdiction over the issue. See State ex rel. Schloss v. Superior Court of Jefferson County, 3 Wash. 696, 701, 29 P. 202 (1892) (Supreme Court has power to issue writ of prohibition under Art. IV §4 when Superior Court acts to render an appeal nugatory). Because criminal midtrial motions to dismiss divest the appellate courts of jurisdiction over certain issues they involve a significant question under the Washington Constitution.

b. The Court of Appeals' invocation of RAP 2.2 to evade review of this question also involves a significant question of law regarding whether certain questions are essentially unreviewable by the Appellate Courts.

RAP 2.2 provides:

The State or a local government may appeal in a criminal case only from the following superior court decisions and only if the appeal will not place the defendant in double jeopardy.

(1) Final Decision, Except Not Guilty. A decision that in effect abates, discontinues, or determines the case other than by a judgment or verdict of not guilty, including but not limited to a decision setting aside, quashing, or dismissing an indictment or information, or a decision granting a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3(c)...

Because of this rule the State is not appealing the substantive ruling of the trial court. Instead it is appealing the procedure the trial court used to

arrive at this ruling. The procedure used inheres in the final decision of the court, but is not a judgment or verdict. In addition the double jeopardy clause is concerned with additional trials based on the same set of facts, not the procedure used to arrive at the decision. So while the double jeopardy clause makes this appeal moot, it does not forbid review under RAP 2.2. The appellate courts have developed doctrine as to when they will review a moot issue. This case falls squarely under that doctrine. The Court of Appeals declined to analyze the issue under the mootness doctrine, however the State fully addressed this issue in its opening and reply briefs to the Court of Appeals (Appendices B and C).

The State's narrower reading of RAP 2.2 is compelled by the State Constitution and RAP 1.2(a).

Interpretation. These rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits. Cases and issues will not be determined on the basis of compliance or noncompliance with these rules except in compelling circumstances where justice demands, subject to the restrictions in rule 18.8(b).²

In order to decide issues on the merits in compliance with RAP 1.2(a) the court must either adopt the narrower interpretation of RAP 2.2, or not determine the case based on RAP 2.2. Neither the Court of Appeals nor Ms. Hernandez Martinez identified the compelling circumstances required

² Rule 18.8(b) has to do with timeliness and is not an issue in this appeal.

under RAP 1.2(a) to make RAP 2.2 the determining factor in the State's appeal of this issue.

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