FILED

July 20, 2016

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

No. 93430-4 COA No. 33109-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner/Cross-Respondent,

٧.

FILED

JUL 29 2016

MARIA HERNANDEZ MARTINEZ,

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

The Honorable John D. Knodell

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the morning of August 29, 2012, a fire occurred at Maria Hernandez-Martinez's residence in Moses Lake. RP 288. At the time of the fire, Ms. Hernandez-Martinez and her children had left the residence at 6:30 in the morning and were on their way to Spokane for a doctor's appointment. RP 353.

Grant County Fire Marshall Bruce Gribble went to Ms.

Hernandez-Martinez's residence shortly after the fire was extinguished.

RP 290. When he entered the residence, Gribble did not smell any odor

of gasoline or other accelerants. RP 303. Gribble also did not observe any televisions in the residence. RP 302. His initial evaluation was that the fire appeared to have started in the south side of the trailer near a window and air conditioner. RP 293. Gribble also noted that records showed a fire had occurred at Ms. Hernandez-Martinez's residence in the same location in May 2009. RP 306.

Ms. Hernandez-Martinez made a claim with her insurance company, Foremost Insurance, which was owned by Farmer's Insurance. RP 251. In the claim she included two televisions and \$3,800 in cash. RP 253-54. The insurance claims adjuster assigned to investigate the claim, Jonathon Hull, met with Ms. Hernandez-Martinez at her residence in September 2012. RP 251. Hull noted the effective date of Ms. Hernandez-Martinez's policy was August 9, 2012. RP 252. Ms. Hernandez-Martinez told Hull the money was on a sofa. RP 253-54.

Farmer's Investigator Craig Harris spoke to Ms. Hernandez-Martinez on August 29, 2012. RP 265. Ms. Hernandez-Martinez told Harris that she lived at the residence with her three children. RP 277. She said she received \$660 per month in income and her monthly mortgage payment on the trailer was \$500 per month. Ms. Hernandez-

Martinez again related that two televisions were damaged in the fire and that she had lost \$3800 in cash as well. RP 279. According to Ms. Hernandez-Martinez, the money was in a leather purse that was on a sofa. RP 279.

Barry Kerth, a private fire investigator retained by Farmer's Insurance inspected the trailer on September 3, 2012. RP 153. He returned for a second time on September 8, 2012, for further investigation. RP 158. During his first inspection, Kerth did not observe any televisions in the trailer. RP 158. The televisions were present during his second inspection of September 8. RP 158. Kerth did not recall seeing a gas can at the scene. RP 160. Kerth inspected the sofas in the trailer and did not find any evidence of cash. RP 167. Kerth traced the origin of the fire to a point behind one of the sofas near a window. RP 171. Kerth stated that when he first moved this sofa to investigate further, he did not smell anything. RP 174. As he began to dig around in the fire debris, he began to smell a strong odor of an accelerant. RP 174-75.

Following Kerth's discovery of the smell of an accelerant,

Eileen Porter, the handler of an accelerant detection dog, was sent by

Farmer's Insurance to Ms. Hernandez-Martinez's residence. RP 208.

During her sweep of the residence, the dog alerted four times to the presence of an accelerant; three alerts outside the window near the sofa and air conditioner, and once inside the same window. RP 210. Ms. Porter took samples from this area and sent it to a private laboratory for testing. RP 211. This testing revealed the presence of automobile gasoline. RP 240-44. Ms. Porter also saw a gas can about 50 feet from the trailer. RP 229. Ms. Porter did not collect the gas can, but she took a photograph of it. RP 229.

On September 25, 2012, Ms. Hernandez-Martinez was interviewed by Grant County Sheriff's Deputy Jon Melvin along with Fire Marshall Gribble. RP 345-47. During this interview, Ms. Hernandez-Martinez reiterated that two televisions were damaged and \$3800 in cash was lost in the fire. RP 355.

Ms. Hernandez-Martinez was subsequently charged with first degree arson, based upon the alternative means of damaging a dwelling and intent to collect insurance proceeds on a property valued at \$10,000 or more; second degree perjury, and filing a false insurance claim in excess of \$1,500. CP 52-55. At trial, over repeated defense objections on relevancy and prejudice grounds, the trial court admitted the photograph of the unrelated gas can

At the completion of the jury trial, Ms. Hernandez-Martinez was convicted of first degree arson, filing a false insurance claim, and the lesser included offense of making a false or misleading statement to a public servant. CP 105-07. Further, the State also charged Mr. Hernandez-Martinez with one count of second degree perjury that, at the conclusion of the evidence, the trial court dismissed for a lack of sufficient evidence. CP 1; RP 453-56.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals rejected Ms. Hernandez Martinez's challenges to her convictions, and ruled the State could not appeal the dismissal of the perjury count pursuant to RAP 2.2(b)(1) and on double jeopardy grounds.

F. ARGUMENT ON WHY STATE'S PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED

The State is barred from appealing an acquittal for insufficient evidence.

1. Double jeopardy bars any appeal by the State of a judgment of acquittal.

The double jeopardy clause of the United States Constitution guarantees that no person shall "be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb". U.S. Const. amend. V. The Fifth Amendment applies to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment.

Benton v. Maryland, 395 U.S. 784, 794, 89 S.Ct. 2056, 23 L.Ed.2d 707 (1969). The double jeopardy clause of the Washington State Constitution guarantees that "No person shall ... be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." Const. art. I, § 9.

The protection against double jeopardy attaches when "some event, such as an acquittal, ... terminates the original jeopardy." *Richardson v. United States*, 468 U.S. 317, 325, 104 S.Ct. 3081, 82 L.Ed.2d 242 (1984). The public interest in the finality of criminal judgments is so strong that an acquitted defendant may not be retried even though "the acquittal was based upon an egregiously erroneous foundation." *Fong Foo v. United States*, 369 U.S. 141, 143, 82 S.Ct. 671, 7 L.Ed.2d 629 (1962).

In attempting to get around the double jeopardy bar, the State couches its argument in an appeal of the "procedure" the trial court used in acquitting Ms. Hernandez-Martinez of perjury. No matter what the State wishes to call it, the State is still attempting to appeal an acquittal, which necessarily violates double jeopardy and RAP 2.2(b)(1).

(W)e have emphasized that what constitutes an "acquittal" is not to be controlled by the form of the judge's action. . . . (but) whether the ruling of the judge, whatever its label, actually represents a resolution,

correct or not, of some or all of the factual elements of the offense charged.

United States v. Martin Linen Supply Co., 430 U.S. 564, 571, 97 S.Ct. 1349, 51 L.Ed.2d 642 (1977).

Thus, the United States Supreme Court has flatly rejected the State's argument. It matters not how the trial court came to its conclusion, it only matters that the trial court acquitted Ms. Hernandez-Martinez.

Under RAP 2.2(b), the State may only appeal in limited circumstances. One authoritative bar of the State's right to appeal is where the appeal would place the defendant in double jeopardy. RAP 2.2(b)(1). That is precisely the case here and the Court of Appeals recognized that fact in dismissing the State's cross-appeal. Decision at 15-16. This Court should agree and deny the State's petition.

2. Assuming, arguendo, that the State can appeal a judgment of acquittal, this matter is moot.

As a general rule, appellate courts do not consider cases that are moot or present only abstract questions. *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d 901, 907, 287 P.3d 584 (2012); *Sorenson v. City of Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). A case is moot if the court can no longer provide effective relief. *Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d at 907. Mootness

is a jurisdictional. *State v. Deskins*, 180 Wn.2d 68, 80, 322 P.3d 780 (2014). When an appeal is moot, it should be dismissed. *Sorenson*, 80 Wn.2d at 558.

The issue is moot. Since the trial court acquitted Ms. Hernandez Martinez of the perjury count, there is no relief that the State can gain, thus the issue is moot.

3. Assuming, arguendo, the State can appeal a judgment of acquittal, the State has not shown that the public importance exception to the mootness doctrine applies.

Even if a case becomes moot, the appellate court has the discretion to decide an issue on appeal if the question is one of continuing and substantial public interest. *Sorenson*, 80 Wn.2d at 558; *Grays Harbor Paper Co. v. Grays Harbor County*, 74 Wn.2d 70, 73, 442 P.2d 967 (1968). This exception to the mootness rule applies only where the *real merits* of the controversy are unsettled and a continuing question of *great* public importance exists. *Grays Harbor Paper Co*, 74 Wn.2d at 73.

Courts apply the following factors to determine whether a moot issue warrants review: "(1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature, (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers, and (3) whether the issue is

likely to recur." *State v. Veazie*, 123 Wn.App. 392, 397, 98 P.3d 100 (2004).

Other than a blanket statement without any support, the State makes no attempt to show that this issue will reoccur or whether it is an issue at all. Anecdotally, counsel has been practicing for 21 years in all three divisions of the Court of Appeals and this Court and has never seen this issue arise. The reason this issue will not reoccur, and why it has not arisen before, is it is barred by the Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions. Once again, it matters not how the trial court, or a jury, comes to its conclusion regarding the acquittal of the charged offense, the fact of the acquittal is all that matters.

In light of the double jeopardy bar to the State's appeal, this Court should deny the State's petition for review.

G. ARGUMENT ON WHY THE CROSS-PETITION SHOULD BE GRANTED

- 1. There was not sufficient evidence that Ms. Hernandez-Martinez was responsible for the fire.
 - a. The State bears the burden of proving each of the essential elements of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

The State is required to prove each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend XIV; *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 471, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). The standard the reviewing court uses in analyzing a claim of insufficiency of the evidence is "[w]hether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979).

b. The State failed to prove Ms. Hernandez-Martinez had anything to do with the arson.

While the State arguably proved the fire in Ms. Hernandez-Martinez's residence was intentionally set, the State failed to prove she had anything to do with the fire, either as a principal or accomplice. Accordingly, Ms. Hernandez-Martinez is entitled to reversal of her conviction for arson.

To prove first degree arson, the State was required to prove Ms. Hernandez-Martinez knowingly and maliciously caused a fire or explosion which damaged a dwelling, or knowingly and maliciously causing a fire or explosion on property valued at ten thousand dollars or more with intent to collect insurance. RCW 9A.48.020(1)(b), (d).

The State produced no physical evidence that Ms. Hernandez-Martinez started the fire, thus the entire case was based on what the State correctly characterized as circumstantial evidence. At the time of the fire, Ms. Hernandez-Martinez and her children were in their car on the way to Spokane.

The State relied upon several facts which it claimed showed Ms.

Hernandez-Martinez was responsible for the fire but which do not support the State's claim. The State relied upon the fact that Ms.

Hernandez-Martinez had just purchased the insurance which proved nothing. The State also relied upon the fact Ms. Hernandez-Martinez had a fire in her residence a few years prior. But the State had candidly admitted that it knew nothing about this fire, how it started or how

much damage was caused, but still wanted the jury to speculate that this fire was also arson despite a complete lack of evidence of this fact.

Finally, the State relied upon Ms. Hernandez-Martinez's insurance claims in this matter to support its theory that she started the fire. Once again, all this evidence proves is that Ms. Hernandez-Martinez took advantage of the fire, it did nothing to prove she had any involvement in starting it.

The only thing the State proved at trial was that the fire was arson, period. The State completely failed to prove who was responsible for its ignition. Accordingly, the State failed in its burden of proving Ms. Hernandez-Martinez responsible for the fire.

c. The failure to instruct the jury on unanimity was error.

The trial court failed to instruct the jury on jury unanimity of the alternative means of committing arson. The first degree arson statute has long been recognized to specify alternative means by which a person may commit the crime. *State v. Flowers*, 30 Wn.App. 718, 722-23, 637 P.2d 1009 (1981), *review denied*, 97 Wn.2d 1024 (1982). In an alternative means case, where a single offense may be committed in more than one way, there must be jury unanimity as to guilt for the crime charged. Unanimity is not required, however, as to the means by

which the crime was committed *so long as* substantial evidence supports each alternative means. *State v. Whitney*, 108 Wn.2d 506, 739 P.2d 1150 (1987).

In light of Ms. Hernandez-Martinez's argument regarding the sufficiency of the evidence, the failure to instruct on unanimity provided an additional argument for reversal of the arson count.

This Court should grant review and reverse the arson conviction.

- 2. The error in admitting a photograph of an unrelated and irrelevant gas can which the prosecutor subsequently took advantage of prejudiced Ms. Hernandez-Martinez and required reversal of the arson count.
 - a. The admission of irrelevant evidence violates the due process right to a fair trial.

Erroneous evidentiary rulings violate due process by depriving the defendant of a fundamentally fair trial. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 (1991); *Pulley v. Harris*, 465 U.S. 37, 41, 104 S.Ct. 871, 79 L.Ed.2d 29 (1984). Generally, the mere failure to comply with state evidentiary rules does not violate due process. *Jammal v. Van de Kamp*, 926 F.2d 918, 919-20 (9th Cir. 1991). But, mere compliance with state evidentiary and procedural rules does not *guarantee* compliance with

the requirements of due process. *Id.*, *citing Perry v. Rushen*, 713 F.2d 1447, 1453 (9th Cir. 1983), *cert. denied*, 469 U.S. 838 (1984). Due process *is* violated where the admission of evidence was arbitrary or so prejudicial that it rendered the trial fundamentally unfair. *Walters v. Maass*, 45 F.3d 1355, 1357 (9th Cir. 1995); *Colley v. Sumner*, 784 F.2d 984, 990 (9th Cir. 1986).

b. Only relevant evidence is admissible at trial.

"Relevancy and the admissibility of relevant evidence are governed by ER 401 and ER 402." *State v. Rice*, 48 Wn.App. 7, 11, 737 P.2d 726 (1987). Irrelevant evidence is inadmissible, even if offered by a criminal defendant in his defense. ER 402; *State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d 918, 925, 913 P.2d 808 (1996); *State v. Otis*, 151 Wn.App. 572, 578, 213 P.3d 613 (2009).

To be relevant, evidence must meet two requirements: (1) the evidence must have a tendency to prove or disprove a fact (probative value), and (2) that fact must be of consequence in the context of the other facts and the applicable substantive law (materiality). ER 401; Davidson v. Metropolitan Seattle, 43 Wn.App. 569, 573, 719 P.2d 569, review denied, 106 Wn.2d 1009 (1986). Facts that are "of consequence" have some tendency to prove, qualify, or disprove an

issue in the case. *State v. Peterson*, 35 Wn.App. 481, 484, 667 P.2d 645 (1983). The relevance of evidence depends on the circumstances of each individual case and the relationship between the facts and the ultimate issue. *Davidson*, 43 Wn.App. at 573.

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